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1. Name of Property

historic name  East Village Historic District

other names/site number N/A

2. Location

street & number  Generally bounded by North Humboldt, East Brady, North Warren, N/A not for publication
and Milwaukee River

city or town Milwaukee N/A vicinity

state  Wisconsin code WI county Milwaukee code 079  zipcode 53202

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, I hereby certify that this X nomination
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
X meets _ does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant _ nationally
statewi’de X locally. (_ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Ypener 2 Coe o Detony, b 9, 2063

Signature of certifyin'g official/Title /\ Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property _ meets _ does not meet the National Register criteria,
(_ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

Signature of commenting official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau
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4. N;(tional Park Service Certification A ‘A A 'y
I hegéby certify that the property is: ) /

entered in the National Register. Y L ¢

____ See continuation sheet.
___ determined eligible for the

National Register.

____ See continuation sheet.
___ determined not eligible for the

National Register.

____ See continuation sheet.
___removed from the National

Register.
. other, (explain:) 1
oA
Signature of the Keeper Date of Action
5. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
(check as many boxes as (Check only one box) (Do not include previously listed resources
as apply) , in the count)
X private building(s) ‘ contributing noncontributing
X public-local x  district 278 5 buildings
public-State structure 2 sites
public-Federal site structures
object objects
280 5 total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources
(Enter "N/A" if property not part of a multiple property is previously listed in the National Register
listing.
N/A 0
6. Function or Use
Historic Functions Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
DOMESTIC/single dwelling DOMESTIC/single dwelling
DOMESTIC/multiple dwelling DOMESTIC/multiple dwelling
COMMERCE/TRADE/restaurant COMMERCE/TRADE/restaurant
COMMERCE/TRADE/specialty store COMMERCE/TRADE/professional
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) (Enter categories from instructions)
Foundation Brick
Late Victorian walls Wood
Late 19" Century & Early 20" Century American Movements Brick.
roof Asphalt
other Concrete

Narrative Description
(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria

qualifying the property for the National Register listing.)

_X_A Property is associated with events that have
made a significant contribution to the broad
patterns of our history.

B Property is associated with the lives
of persons significant in our past.

x C  Property embodies the distinctive characteristics

of a type, period, or method of construction

or represents the work of a master, or possesses

high artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose components
lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield,

information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.)

Property is:

_A owned by areligious institution or
used for religious purposes.

X B removed from its original location.
_C abirthplace or grave.
_D acemetery.

E areconstructed building, object, or
structure.

F acommemorative property.

G less than 50 years of age or achieved
significance within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

ETHNIC HERITAGE/EUROPEAN

ARCHITECTURE

SOCIAL HISTORY

Period of Significance

1871-1938

Significant Dates

1871

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked)

N/A

Cultural Affiliation

N/A

Architect/Builder

Kolpacki, Bernard

Dohmen, Anton

(continued pg 7-10)

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)
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9. Major Bibliographic References

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous Documentation on File (National Park Service): Primary location of additional data:
_ preliminary determination of individual X State Historic Preservation Office
listing (36 CFR 67) has been requested _ Other State Agency
. previously listed in the National _ Federal Agency
Register ' _ Local government
. previously determined eligible by _ University
the National Register Other
. designated a National Historic Name of repository:
landmark

recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey #
recorded by Historic American Engineering Record #

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property 45 acres

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1 16 426790 4767280 3 16 427270 4766920
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
2 16 427260 4767418 4 16 426780 4766920
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing

[] See Continuation Sheet

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet)

Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected on a continuation sheet)

11. Form Prepared By
name/title Susan G. Miko$, consultant for
organization East Village Association date April 1, 2003
street & number 2513 East Shorewood Boulevard telephone 414-332-1728

city or town Shorewood state  WI zip code 53211
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Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the complétéd form:
Continuation Sheets

Maps A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location.
A sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Additional Items (Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Property Owner

Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name/title various

organization date
street&number telephone
city or town state Wi zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic
Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings.
Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16
U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including
time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments
regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service,
P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects,
(1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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GENERAL DESCRIPTION

The East Village Historic District is a working class residential neighborhood settled by Polish
immigrants, beginning in the late 1860s. It is located on Milwaukee’s East Side, about one and a half
miles north of the central business district. It adjoins the East Brady Street Historic District, a business
district that also incorporates St. Hedwig’s Church, which served as the spiritual and community center
for the original inhabitants of the East Village Historic District. The District’s housing styles consist
predominantly of modest frame structures, including workers’ cottages, ‘“Polish flats,” single family
houses and duplexes, as well as a handful of brick buildings, interspersed with a scattering of
commercial structures, all densely packed into an approximately four-square block area with an
irregular street pattern.

- Streets and Settlement Pattern

The streets in the East Village Historic District generally conform to the grid pattern
established on Milwaukee’s East Side, with adjustments for the area’s peculiar topography. E. Kane
Place and the north extension of N. Warren Ave. accommodate bends in the Milwaukee River, and N.
Pulaski Street follows the course of a natural ravine.

At one time, two streets bore names that reflected the influence of the Polish community. From
ca. 1874 until 1926, North Arlington Place was named Sobieski Street, after the Polish king, Jan III
Sobieski, who turned back the Turkish invasion of Europe at the gates of Vienna in 1683 (Milwaukee
Department of City Development 1988:12). Pulaski Street was given its name, by ordinance, in 1875,
in honor of Casimir Pulaski, a Polish nobleman who volunteered his services to the Continental Army
during the American Revolution, and died leading the Pulaski Legion in an attack on Savannah in
1779. The street, which cuts a crooked diagonal path across the district, originally ran through a ravine
that was filled and leveled. Today, on account of its length and irregular course, its Polish name, and
the examples of ethnic architecture along it, Pulaski Street exemplifies the distinctive character of the
East Village Historic District better than any other street.

" Even more than the irregular street pattern, which is mainly attributable to Pulaski Street’s
diagonal trajectory, non-standard lot sizes and uneven setbacks contribute to a unique and unorthodox
arrangement of buildings. While most of the lots were originally platted in standard 40-foot widths,
repeated subdivisions have led to a patchwork pattern of odd shapes and sizes. Since most of the
houses were built before setbacks were regulated, distance from the street varies considerably. The
addition of rear houses and outbuildings further contributes to an impression of irregularity. ‘
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Resource Types in the East Village Historic District

The East Village Historic District contains a variety of building types, ranging from modest workers’
cottages to imposing brick duplexes and commercial structures. There are a few architect-designed
and “high style” buildings in the District, but most are unpretentious, functional buildings that evolved
over time.

Tracing the history of buildings in the East Village Historic District poses unique challenges.
By the time Milwaukee began requiring building permits in 1888, the area was already well developed.
As a result, a majority of the buildings lack original building permits. Even after 1888, immigrant
property owners were often less than scrupulous about obtaining permits. Building alterations were
frequent, and in many cases improvised. After long experience with foreign occupation and oppressive
landlords, Polish immigrants maintained a skeptical view of governmental authority, and tended to
treat legal regulations as obstacles to be circumvented, wherever possible. As a result, many
construction projects went unrecorded. Additionally, permit records for some properties have evidently
been lost.

Fire insurance maps show buildings present in the East Village Historic District in 1888, 1894,
and 1910. They fail to document the District’s earliest development, however, which took place in the
two decades prior to the publication of the first fire insurance map (Rascher 1888). Moreover, both the
frequency with which houses were moved and the presence of multiple houses on a single lot
complicate the problem of connecting extant structures to the buildings indicated in permit records and
fire insurance maps.

Although property tax records in Milwaukee can be useful in establishing construction dates,
especially since they separate the value of improvements from land values, their utility in the East
Village Historic District is vitiated by several factors. Most of the lots were subdivided, sometimes
multiple times, so that it is not always easy to tie extant structures to particular parcels. In addition, a
variety of sheds, shanties and other temporary structures were built in the early years, making it
difficult to establish which improvements represent actual houses. Finally, since many buildings were
subsequently moved, or demolished and rebuilt, it is impossible to be certain of when buildings
suggested by early tax records are the structures extant today.

The East Village Historic District contains an eclectic mix of building types. The relatively few
“high style” buildings represent a variety of architectural styles, including Italianate, Queen Anne, Arts
and Crafts, and Craftsman. Most of the buildings in the East Village Historic District, however, are
simple vernacular structures, erected to serve the District’s predominantly working class population.
The majority either did not conform to particular styles when built or, through successive additions and
remodeling, have lost the architectural detail, and even massing, associated with distinct architectural
styles.
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Because so many of the houses in the East Village Historic District evolved over time, instead
of being constructed wholesale, they resist categorization. In a neighborhood where economy was
paramount, many of the buildings seem to have arisen from property owners’ often-improvised efforts
to maximize the use of space. Cottages became Polish flats; two-story front gable houses grew into
gabled ells and duplexes; apartment houses sprang from duplexes. In the course of adding on, much
was also taken away — especially siding, porches and decorative detail. As a result, it is difficult to
assign many of the East Village structures to a particular building form, much less an architectural
style. Most of the alterations occurred within the period, giving the district an organic feel seldom seen
in late nineteenth and early twentieth century developments.

The buildings in the East Village Historic District defy classification according to any single
criterion. Most do not conform to recognized architectural styles, either because they were built as
simple vernacular structures, with minimal regard for architectural style, or because successive
remodeling episodes have removed stylistic features they may once have possessed. It is almost
equally problematic to classify them according to conventional concepts of form, such as front gabled
and side gabled. All but a few began as “front gabled” structures, because of the narrow lots, but the
term has little meaning when applied to the idiosyncratic accretions many of them have subsequently
become. Some cottages, which were probably front-gabled to begin with, have been turned sideways at
the rear of lots, to save space. Almost all of the original structures have been augmented, resulting in
multiple rooflines. Entrances have been added and moved, as new living spaces have been created.
Functional distinctions, such as single family, duplex, and apartment also break down. It is often
difficult or impossible to determine, from the exterior, the number of interior living spaces — which,
has been a fluid concept, in any case. It is not even simple to distinguish between commercial and
residential buildings, because the two functions were usually combined in the East Village Historic
District, and usage often changed over the years.

The most satisfactory classification system combines form and function, and reflects the
terminology used in building permits. The types most often referred to in early building permits are
cottage, dwelling, flat, and store. It may be assumed that “cottage” referred to a small, one or one and a
half story structure. A “dwelling” generally meant a single family-style residence (regardless of the
number of “families” which actually occupied it). It was usually a two-story front-gabled building, as
distinct from a cottage. The term “flat” referred to what later became known as a duplex, or,
occasionally, a building with more than two dwelling units. “Store” was a broad term for various types
of commercial buildings, most commonly retail food stores and saloons. In the East Village Historic
District, it was almost always combined with a dwelling, and the building was sometimes referred to as
a “store & flat,” or simply “store-flat.” Another readily identifiable building type in the East Village
Historic District is the Craftsman-style “bungalow,” a few examples of which were built as infill on
undeveloped lots or to replace demolished buildings.
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The most distinctive building type in the East Village Historic District, while not named in
contemporaneous records, is a raised basement structure known today as a “Polish flat.” Although not
identified with any comparable building style in Poland, this inexpensive, space-saving dwelling was
popular among Polish and other immigrants in Milwaukee and elsewhere in the Midwest. In its most
common form, the “Polish flat” consisted of a standard workers’ cottage set on a high basement, which
enclosed a second living space. Separate outside entrances, one above the other, usually led to the
upper and lower flats. In addition to these standard “Polish flats,” similar to those found in
Milwaukee’s South Side Polish neighborhoods, the East Village Historic District also features several
variations on the theme. These include “Polish flats” with different entry arrangements, as well as
other kinds of “raised basement” buildings — two-story front gabled dwellings, commercial buildings,
and even duplexes. ‘ ’

The drive to economy that lay behind the “Polish flat” also led to another distinctive feature of
the district — the prevalence of rear houses, or second, third, and even fourth dwellings behind the
main residence. The additional houses were rented out to provide additional income, leaving little open
yard space in the neighborhood. Many of these rear houses have subsequently been razed, and only a
handful of lots still contain as many as three buildings. Nevertheless, enough rear houses remain to
convey a sense of the housing density they imparted to the neighborhood.

The East Village Historic District is an amalgam of workers’ cottages, Polish flats, Milwaukee
duplexes, and two-story single-family homes, with a few “high style” residences, as well as a
scattering of taverns, stores and other commercial buildings. Following are descriptions of the
principal building types found in the East Village Historic District:

Workers’ Cottage:

The dominant housing type in the East Village Historic District, as in most of Milwaukee’s
nineteenth century working class neighborhoods, was a simple one or one and a half story frame
structure with a gable roof, commonly referred to as a “workers’ cottage.” The typical workers’ cottage
of Midwestern cities has been described as

a one-story (or story and one-half) wood frame structure with its gable and offset front
door facing the street... In plan, it usually contained two major rooms along one side: a
living room (also called a parlor) and a kitchen. Along the opposite side were two or
more smaller rooms, usually used for bedrooms. This standard workers’ cottage usually
had two entries, one from a front porch opening to a small entry hall into the living
room, and the other from the rear or side into the kitchen. In some cases, the cottage had
a basement or minimum underground storage area. The upstairs or attic was almost
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always used for sleeping areas (often left unfinished) for children or boarders (Hubka
and Kenny 2000:37).

The Victorian workers’ cottage was an early form of mass-produced, industrialized housing for
working-class Americans. Its machined components included doors, windows, casings, hardware, and
decorative detailing, as well as standardized components for the structural and finish systems. Reliance
on mass-produced building materials, combined with contractor and speculator initiation of the house
building process, meant minimal owner contribution to design or construction. Workers’ cottages were
sold through modern land development practices such as lot standardization, financing and marketing,
further reducing the owner’s influence (Hubka and Kenny 2000:37-38).

Variants of the workers’ cottage were found in industrial cities across the country. Although
they were small and unprepossessing, workers’ cottages were neatly trimmed with decorative
millwork, often produced in local lumberyards. The earliest examples may have simple Greek Revival
or Italianate trim, while later houses often have windows with punched or machine-tooled
enframements and porches with turned posts and jigsawed ornaments (Milwaukee Department of City
Development 1988:378).

The workers’ cottage — usually constructed on a cedar post foundation — was originally the
dominant building type in the East Village Historic District. Because the cottages were small and
insubstantial, however, many have been razed, either as a result of deterioration or to make room for
larger dwellings. Virtually all of the workers’ cottages that do survive have been enlarged and
otherwise altered, sometimes beyond recognition.

Because the post foundations inevitably failed, the cottages needed to be “underpinned” with
masonry foundations some years later. This often served as an occasion to create additional living
space in the basement, resulting in the so-called “Polish flat” (see below). Because they were small and
relatively “portable,” cottages were frequently moved, both from one lot to another, and from the front
to the back of a given lot, to make room for a larger structure in front. In 1916, for example, the
cottage at 1110-1112 E. Hamilton Street was moved to the rear of the lot to make room for a brick
veneer duplex. In 1920, the cottage at 1822-1824 N. Warren Ave. was moved to the rear, so that a new
duplex could be erected the following year. In 1925, Joseph Skwierawski moved a cottage to the rear
of his lot at 1845 N. Warren Ave. and built a Craftsman duplex in front (Building Permits, 1110-1112
E. Hamilton Street, 1822-1824 N. Warren Ave., 1845 N. Warren Ave.).

Most of the surviving cottages in the East Village Historic District have been re-sided and have
lost their original decorative trim. Some of the relatively intact cottages have been raised and converted
to “Polish flats”, but preserve their trim and exterior cottage form, e.g., 1746 N. Warren Ave., 1842 N.
Warren Ave., 1920 N. Warren Ave. and 1860-62 N. Arlington Place. Other fairly well preserved
cottages include 1817 N. Warren Ave, 1823 N. Warren Ave., and 1740 N. Warren Ave. The cottage at
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1760 N. Franklin Place, though re-sided and considerably altered, is a good example of the lower
pitched roofs of earlier cottages, and also retains a small oval gable window.

Two-story front gable house:

A common house form in the East Village Historic District is a simple, two story, front gabled
structure, generally referred to in building permits as a “dwelling.” Early examples (e.g., 1821 N.
Warren Ave., 1712 N. Franklin Place) resemble a taller version of the workers’ cottage. While
originally built with a single entrance, many of these dwellings were enlarged and converted to multi-
family residences.

“Polish Flat”:

The raised basement cottage, referred to in Milwaukee as the “Polish flat” because of its
association with Polish immigrant neighborhoods, consisted of a standard workers’ cottage atop an
above-ground basement or partially above-ground basement which served as additional living space. In
its classic form, an existing cottage was raised up on cedar posts and a semi-basement dwelling
constructed underneath. Typically, the cedar post foundation was later converted to masonry. In other
cases, a cottage from another site was moved onto the basement foundation. Additionally, some houses
were originally constructed with high basements (Hubka and Kenny 2000:37, 40-41).

A steep flight of wooden stairs usually led to the upper level entrance, while entry to the
basement apartment was either at street level, or down a short flight of steps directly underneath the
upper level entrance porch. In terms of general form, floor plan, and decorative detailing, the “Polish
flat” remained a workers’ cottage. The basement, whether fully above ground or semi-subterranean,
had full-sized windows and a standard door. In the East Village Historic District, there were numerous
variations on the standard “Polish flat,” however. In some cases, the basement entrance is on the side
of the building rather than in front, and in other instances, the stairs to the upper flat are located inside
the building, as in a standard duplex.

The “Polish flat” enjoyed widespread popularity in Milwaukee’s working class Polish
neighborhoods. According to a contemporary description of the Polish South Side, “on each side of
every street or avenue is an almost continuous line of basements, miles and miles of gloomy, poorly
lighted, damp, unventilated, overcrowded rooms” (Wisconsin-Bureau of Labor and Industrial Statistics
1912:173-74). One study estimates that between 1870 and 1920, roughly 10,000 “Polish flats” were
constructed in Milwaukee, representing approximately 5 to 10 percent of the city’s total housing units,
and more than 50 percent of the housing on the Polish South Side (Hubka and Kenny 2000:40).

A good example of a “Polish flat” with original porch and outside stairs is 1213 E. Kane Place;
this house also has original window frames with two over two light sashes, and decorative gable
shingles. Another example, with a semi-subterranean basement, is at 1746 N. Warren Ave. This house
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has a basement door under the outside stairs. It also retains its original porch, window frames, brackets,
and gable shingling. Another representative Polish flat is at 1768 N. Warren Ave.

In addition, there are several variations on the “classic” Polish flat. In the most common
variant, the basement is fully above ground, with a front, ground level entrance opening onto inside
stairs to the upper flat and the basement entrance on one side of the building. Examples include 1327
E. Kane Place, 1842 N. Warren Ave., 1864 N. Warren Ave., and 1860 N. Arlington Place.

Although workers’ cottages were the most frequent building type to be raised, in the East
Village Historic District, two-story front gabled structures (e.g., 1800 N. Warren Ave.), commercial
buildings, and even duplexes (e.g., 1729-31 N. Franklin Place, 1838-1840 N. Humboldt Ave., and
1858-1862 N. Warren Ave.) were also set on raised basements.

Bungalow:
Between 1905 and 1925, the Craftsman-inspired, one-story bungalow style enjoyed widespread

popularity in Milwaukee. As an affordable housing type, the small bungalow assumed the role of the
earlier Victorian workers’ cottage in making home ownership possible for the working classes.
Although bungalows were built in large speculative tracts in some parts of Milwaukee, in the already
developed East Village neighborhood they were built as infill amidst older houses. At the same time,
many of the older wooden cottages were brought up to date by the addition of a bungalow style porch
and grouped windows (Milwaukee Department of City Development 1988:375-78). N. Warren Ave., -
which developed slightly later than other streets in the East Village, has several bungalows, including
1724, 1735, 1851, 1952 and 1960 N. Warren.

Milwaukee Duplex:

The popular housing form known today as the “duplex” was built in large numbers throughout
Milwaukee between about 1885 and 1930. Originally known as a “flat” or “two family flat,” the house
type has been referred to as a “duplex flat” or “duplex” since about 1914 (Milwaukee Department of
City Development 1988:380).

Although building permits were not required until 1888, other evidence suggests that duplex
construction began in Milwaukee during the 1880s, became increasingly popular in the 1890s and
peaked between 1904 and 1916. Duplexes were constructed in every city ward except downtown and
the Menomonee Valley. Some areas of the city, notably on the North Side, were built almost
exclusively with duplexes. Relatively few duplexes were constructed on the South Side, where the
“Polish Flat” constituted a less expensive substitute (Milwaukee Department of City Development
1988:380-81).

As a house type, the duplex developed from the gable-roofed rectangular house. Because of
Milwaukee’s long, narrow lot configuration, most of the city’s housing was sited with the gable end
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facing the street. The earliest duplex examples, from the 1880s, were simple gable-roofed blocks with
a small porch and balcony at the second story. Between 1890 and 1925, the front gable remained a
standard feature, but several new types appeared. One of the most popular duplex types features a
gable roof with intersecting gables projecting from the main block of the house. Porches were often
used only at the two entries, which were located at opposite corners of the front elevation. Examples of
this type range in date from the 1880s and early 1890s up to the early 1900s. In the early twentieth
century, this type of duplex, with entrances at either end of the front, was usually unified with a broad
porch across the first story and an open deck at the second story level. The other major type of duplex,
popular from about 1905 to 1930, featured the entrance doors placed side by side under a broad porch
(Milwaukee Department of City Development 1988:381-82).

The Milwaukee duplex exhibited considerable diversity in its architectural detail, including
Queen Anne, Colonial Revival, Arts and Crafts, and Bungalow styles. A prominent feature of
Milwaukee duplex design is the attention paid to the gable end, which almost invariably faced the
street. Between 1890 and 1910, the gable end was clad with shingles, stucco, paneling or clapboard. A
central window, or pair of windows, was centered in the gable and framed by shingled reveals,
pilasters or freestanding columns, or simple millwork trim. Often, the gable end window was a three-
part window, usually of Palladian form. Broad, paneled vergeboards were nearly always present, and
brackets sometimes carried the eaves. Porch treatment varied greatly, from simple full porches with
sturdy columns to small entrance porches embellished with delicate spindlework. Towers and turrets
were added to early examples. Duplexes built in the 1910s and 1920s were often relatively devoid of
ornament, and featured jerkin-head gable or hipped roofs (Milwaukee Department of City
Development 1988:382-83).

The East Village Historic District contains a sizable number of duplexes, including 1803-05,
1822-24 and 1828-30 N. Arlington Place; and 1803-05 N. and 1845-47 N. Warren Ave.

Rear House:

“Though not a separate building form, an important characteristic of the East Village Historic
District is the prevalence of rear houses on lots of sufficient depth. The majority of these are small
cottages, but there are also some two story houses and even substantial duplexes. Some lots contain as
many as three dwellings. Conmpanion houses on the same lot are often similar in style, or at least
painted in the same color scheme, such as 1723/1725 N. Arlington Place (3 buildings), 1730/ 1730B N.
Arlington Place, 1752 N. Arlington Place, 1840 N. Arlington Place, 1320/1320A N. Pulaski Street,
1729-31/1731A N. Warren Ave., and 1856 N. Warren Ave.

Like duplexes and “Polish flats,” rear houses provided rental income that made home
ownership possible for working class families. Some rear houses were built or moved to the site of an
existing front house. Alternatively, a small rear house might be built first, and a larger front house
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constructed later, when the family could afford it. Other times, a cottage was moved to the rear of the
lot when a new house was built in the front. In still other cases, two houses were built or moved to the
lot at the same time (Milwaukee Department of City Development 1988:379).

The prevalence of rear houses in the East Village Historic District contributed greatly to the
neighborhood’s general congestion. In other parts of the city, rear houses are often sited on back alleys,
but the East Village contains no alleys, which only exacerbated the crowding. Early twentieth century
reformers regarded rear houses as deteriorating, overcrowded, unsanitary firetraps and considered them
a great evil. Milwaukee’s first zoning ordinance in 1920 restricted the construction of rear houses
(Milwaukee Department of City Development 1988:379).

Although many rear houses have been razed, more than 60 remain in the East Village Historic
District. Examples include 1219A E. Kane Place, 1746A N. Warren Ave., 1847A N. Warren Ave, and
1836A & B N. Pulaski Street. In several instances, such as 1740 N. Warren Ave., 1114 E. Kane Place,
and 1217 E. Kane Place, only the rear house remains on the property.

Commercial Buildings:

The main concentration of commercial development in the East Village area was along East
Brady Street, adjacent to the East Village Historic District. However, a number of commercial
establishments — mainly taverns, grocery stores, and meat markets — were also interspersed among the
residences in the East Village Historic District. Most of the commercial buildings in the East Village
Historic District combined residential and commercial functions under one roof. Usually, the store or
tavern was situated on the ground floor, with living quarters above. These buildings — which Craig
Reisser (1977) calls “shop houses” -- were also referred to as “store-flats.”

Some of the early commercial buildings in the East Village Historic District housed
longstanding businesses — and a few continue to the present day. The building at 1759-61 N. Warren
Ave. was a corner grocery store, and is still used for retail purposes. Wolski’s Tavern, at 1834-36
Pulaski Street, has been in business since 1908 (Potter 2002). The building at 1100-02 E. Kane Place,
now occupied by The Tasting Room tavern, was moved to the site in 1907, but there has been a saloon
on the property since at least as early as 1888 (Building Permits; Rascher 1888:163).

Other commercial buildings in the East Village Historic District housed a variety of businesses
over the years, or fluctuated between comrnercial and residential use. Many have now been converted
entirely to residential use. Some (e.g., 1756 N. Arlington Place, 1819-21 N. Arlington Place and 1136
N. Kane Place) retain boomtown facades and other features that reveal their commercial origins, but
others are scarcely distinguishable from other residential structures. For example, 1741 N. Franklin
Place was owned by Pabst Brewing Co. in 1903. In 1915, Valentine Buczek operated a dairy there.
Subsequently, the building was a grocery and a tailor shop/dressmaking establishment. It is currently a
residence (Building permits, 1741 N. Franklin Place).
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Architects of the East Village Historic District

While most of the buildings in the East Village Historic District are simple contractor-built
structures, a few of the more prominent residents commissioned architects to design residential and
commercial buildings. The following architect-designed buildings are identified in permit records:

Name Building Address Date
Bernard Kolpacki 1734-36 N. Arlington PI 1893
1728-30 N. Franklin P1. 1891

Anton Dohmen 1828-30 N. Arlington PI. 1908
A.V. Wiskocil 1816-22 N. Humboldt St. 1894
Thos. V. Schutz 1754 N. Franklin Pl 1888
Wiskocil & Schutz 1729-31 N. Pulaski St. 1898
Chas. Kirchoff, Jr. 1102 E. Hamilton St. 1891
Sly Voelz 1831-33 N. Pulaski St. 1911
Chas. H. Tharinger 1828 N. Warren Ave. 1910
Leon Gurda 1858-62 N. Warren Ave. 1912
H.J. Esser 1874-76 N. Warren Ave. 1904
Aug. G. Wolf 1742-44 N. Pulaski St. 1913
P.N. Moore 1138-40 E. Hamilton St. 1895

Two of the above architects, Bernard Kolpacki and Leon Gurda, were Polish. Both resided on
Milwaukee’s South Side and designed buildings for both Polish and non-Polish clients (see Section 8,

below).

Builders, Carpenters, Masons and House Movers Active in East Village Historic District:

With few exceptions, the construction tradesmen listed in building permit records for the East
Village Historic District were of Polish origin. The following is a list of builders and the buildings they
constructed. Many of these builders lived in or near the East Village Historic District. Many of these
same tradesmen, as well as a number of others not listed here, were also responsible for building
alterations and additions in the District.
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Name
Bachalski
August Banasch
E. Bartel & Gehrke

H. Buczkowski & H. Rutkowski

W. Cywinski
Frank Dombrowski

Theophil Dombrowski

C. Duetzkow Bros. Co.
A. Gabrowski
Jacob Gazdecki

Louis Giese

Phil Gurlik

Emil Koeller

Chas. Kiedrowski
Kochanski & Kempinski
Frank Kosecki
Valentine Kozecki

Frank Lewandowski

Trade
mason
mason
builder
builder
builder
builder

builder

builder
carpenter
carpenter

builder

builder/carpenter
mason

builder
carpenter
carpenter
builder

builder/carpenter

Building
1822 Pulaski (rear)
1918A Warren
1808 Pulaski
1932-34 Warren
1825 Warren
1734-36 Arlington
1748 Arlington
1752 Arlington
1736 Humboldt
1142-44 Hamilton
1728-30 Franklin
1832-34 Warren
1818-20 Warren
1818-20 Warren (rear)
1102 Hamilton
1828 Warren
1818 Pulaski
1916-18 Warren
1866 Humboldt
1130 Hamilton
1130B Hamilton
1126 Kane
1139 Kane
1723 Arlington
1114B Kane
1834 Arlington
1858-62 Warren
1114B Kane
1149 Kane ~
1235 Kane
1760-62 Pulaski
1832 Pulaski
1828-30 Arlington
1726 Pulaski
1144 A Kane

Date
1917
1904
1891
1891
1890
1893
1891
1891
1890
1894
1891
1902
1889
1889
1891
1910
1905
1903
1891
1891
1899
1892
1891
1897
1897
1910
1912
1897
1888
1888
1888
1890
1908
1915
1911
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Name
Teofil Lukowicz
David Mueller

John Machalinski
Machalinski & Mueller

Aug. Majewski
Frank Malek

Aug. Mieszewski
Frank Niezorawski

F. Niezorawski & Son.
F. Niezorawski, Jr.
Paul Odja

John Szczepanski
Edmund Stormowski

John Tuszkiewicz

Wm. Urban

Meyer Wachowsky
B. Wisniewski
Witt Bros.

John Zieman

Trade
carpenter
builder/carpenter

builder
builder

carpenter

mason

builder
mason/contractor

builder
builder
mason
builder
mason

house mover

builder

builder
builder/carpenter
mason

builder

Building

1918 A Warren

1754 Pulaski

1726 Arlington

1760 Warren

1750-56 Warren (rear)

- 1748-50 Franklin

1734-36 Pulaski
1219 Kane

1760 Warren
1725 Franklin
1816-22 Humboldt
1743-45 N. Franklin
1754 Pulaski

1818 Pulaski
1750-56 Warren
1858-62 Warren
1742-44 Pulaski
1144A Kane
1729-31 Franklin
1874-76 Warren
1916-18 Warren
1834-36 Pulaski
1857 Pulaski

1866 Pulaski

1121 Hamiliton
1136 Kane
1100-02 Kane
1746 Franklin
1201 Kane
1831-33 Pulaski
1822 Pulaski

1828 Warren
1138-40 Hamilton
1910-12 Warren

Date

1904
1907
1898
1899
1892
1892
1891
1900
1899
1892
1894
1911
1907
1905
1903
1912
1913
1911
1894
1904
1903
1903
1893
1900
1898
1908
1907
1897
1893
1911
1904
1910
1895
1893
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Name Trade Building Date
Leo Zylski builder 1856 Warren 1889
Felix Zynda builder 1758 Humboldt 1889
Selected Buildings:

Edmund Stormowski Duplex, 1874-76 North Warren Ave.:

Located on top of a hill on North Warren Ave., at the head of E. Kane Place, the Edmund
Stormowski duplex was one of the finest residences in the East Village neighborhood. The owner,
Edmund Stormowski, a professional mason, built the house in 1904 for himself from plans supplied by
one of the city’s prominent architects, Herman J. Esser. It is likely that Stormowski met Esser through
his brother-in-law, Frank Niezorawski, who had served as chief mason contractor on several Esser
buildings (Milwaukee Department of City Development 2002:3,8).

The Stormowski house is a 2-1/2 story, front gabled, Arts and Crafts style, red brick and stucco
Milwaukee Duplex. The asymmetrical main elevation, facing North Warren Avenue, is dominated by a
large one-story, brick porch with a flat roof that serves as a walk-out deck for the upper flat. The porch
spans the entire front of the house, and contains two segmental arch openings supported by three brick
piers. The larger arch spans nearly two-thirds of the elevation and frames a projecting bay of three
double hung windows behind. The smaller arch frames a pair of front entry doors to the upper and
lower flats. Both arches are topped with limestone keystones. Above the arches, the porch features a
corbelled brick dentil cornice topped with a limestone stringcourse, which in turn is surmounted by a
brick balustrade with narrow, round-arched openings. The balustrade is capped with a course of
dressed limestone blocks (Milwaukee Department of City Development 2002:3-4).

The second story has a projecting bay of three round-arched windows, each trimmed with a
brick lintel and topped by a limestone keystone. Next to the bay window, directly over the first floor
entry doors, is a small porch recessed behind a segmental-arched opening topped with a limestone
keystone. The attic story is finished with popcorn texture stucco. The gable and deeply overhanging
eaves are finished with a large, flat bargeboard. Each of the far corners of the gable is embellished with
an oversized Arts and Crafts style wooden bracket (Milwaukee Department of City Developnient
2002:4).

The interior retains its original fine woodwork and lighting fixtures. An unusual brick
smokehouse in the basement reflects the original owners’ fondness for the European tradition of
homemade smoked meats and sausages (Milwaukee Department of City Development 2002:4).

The duplex shows evidence of Edmund Stormowski’s advanced masonry skills, particularly in
the narrow mortar joints and the extensive use of arches. It is an early example of a so-called “Luxury
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Duplex” — a type of premium structure that combined the amenities and spaciousness of two fine single
family houses under one roof. The Stormowski Duplex is also important because it has remained in
the Stormowski family since its construction and it is one of the few buildings in the East Village
Historic District whose exterior is virtually unaltered (Milwaukee Department of City Development
2002:5-7).

Frank Ebertowski House, 1866 N. Warren Ave.:

The Frank Ebertowski House, built in 1884, is an example of a raised worker’s cottage, or
“Polish Flat.” The frame cottage rests on a tall brick basement that originally served as living quarters.
In 1931, a single car garage was built into one side of the basement, leaving an entry door on the other
side. Three different kinds of basement construction indicate that there were two additions after the
original building. Frank Ebertowski and his wife Susan immigrated to the United States from Poland in
1879. Frank worked as a laborer. According to the 1900 census, sons John and Stanislaus worked for a
neighborhood tannery. The house remained in the Ebertowski family for 47 years (Historic Milwaukee
1999:40).

Stanislaus Rewolinski House, 1817 N. Warren Ave.:

The Stanislaus Rewolinski House is a worker’s cottage, built in 1881. The first owners were
Polish immigrants John and Katharine Rewolinski. After John died in 1891, his wife continued to live
in the house with other family members. By 1910, son Stanley lived in the house with his mother, wife
and children. Stanley built a masonry basement, and added rooms to the second story. The house has
an addition on the rear. A bungalow-style front porch was added at some point. After being struck by a
car in 1993, the front porch was rebuilt to resemble the bow of a boat, with fish-shaped balusters
(Historic Milwaukee 1999:41).

Frank Westphal House, 1149 E. Kane Place:

The Frank Westphal House was built in 1888 by Valentine Kozecki, a Polish builder who was
active in the East Village neighborhood. It is a two-story version of a worker’s cottage, with two
windows and a door across the front on the first floor, and a Victorian style front porch, with gable
roof and turned posts. Frank Westphal was a sho€ factory worker. According to the 1900 census, Frank
Westphal, his wife and eight children, shared the house with two other families, bringing the total
number of occupants to 20. Frank Westphal’s son John lived in the house until 1926, when Italian
immigrant Santo Vaiana moved in (Historic Milwaukee 1999:42).
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Albert Mueller House, 1860 N. Arlington Place:
The Albert Mueller house, built in 1882, is a raised worker’s cottage, or “Polish Flat.” A one-

story frame cottage was raised onto a high basement, which served as living quarters. Unlike the
typical form of “Polish flat” with outside stairs leading to a second floor entrance, the Albert Mueller
House has an inside stairway, like a standard duplex. The second floor and attic windows feature
Italianate window hoods. Although Albert Mueller’s name sounds German, he was very likely a Polish
immigrant from the German partition. A laborer, he lived in the house for ten years, and was followed
by other Polish owners. The Wisniewski family — first Andrew, then his widow Mary, and later their
son Chester — owned the house from 1924 until 1986 (Historic Milwaukee 1999:42).

Michael Jozwiak Building, 1728 N. Franklin Street:

Michael Jozwiak commissioned architect Bernard Kolpacki to design this brick-sheathed two-
story frame commercial building in 1891. Like other commercial buildings in the Brady Street area,
the Jozwiak Building features transom windows above the center entry and display windows. Michael
Jozwiak operated a meat market for one year before moving on to work for the Milwaukee Fire
Department. The building remained a meat market under different owners until 1920, when Charles
Stone opened a rug cleaning business. Later, the building housed a succession of businesses, including
a grocery store. Many of the owners lived in the apartments above. Between 1972 and 1986, the
building contained only residential space. Recently, the storefront has been restored, utilizing the
original metal columns. Following the removal of boards from the upper windows, two original leaded,
stained glass windows were also revealed (Historic Milwaukee 1999:46-47).

John Weiher Livery Stable, 1729 N. Pulaski Street: _

In 1898, John Weiher established a livery and undertaking business at 1729 N. Pulaski Street
(formerly 331 Pulaski Street). He went out of business in 1907, but the building subsequently became
the first undertaking location for Suminski’s Funeral Home, which is still in business today on Brady
Street. The building is now occupied by the Peters-Weiland & Co. Organ Shop, a leading organ
rebuilder (East Village Association 2000).

The plain, rectangular building is of cream brick, now painted, and has a flat roof hidden by a
parapet. The original vehicle door, at the west end of the fagade, has been replaced by a modern garage
door. A large wooden turntable in the floor opposite the doorway was used for turning horse-drawn
vehicles. The horses were stabled underneath the main floor of the building (Henry Weiland, personal
communication). A pedestrian door opens into the east end of the facade. A pair of small segmental
arched doors, with a crane projecting from above, provides access to the loft.
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George F. Austin House, 1750 N. Humboldt Ave.:

Built in 1847, the George F. Austin House originally stood on the southwest corner of
Wisconsin Ave. and Jefferson Street. With that neighborhood’s evolution from residential to
commercial, Austin sold the property in 1886, and the house was moved to its present location.
According to a contemporary newspaper account, “The George F. Austin homestead, one of the oldest
on the East Side, has been sold and will be removed to a point near the new Polish Church in the First
Ward.” The new owner was Theofil Czerwinski, a Polish brewery worker. Czerwinski lived in the
house with his wife, Constancja, until 1907, when he sold it to his brother, Emil. The house remained
in the Czerwinski family until 1956. In 1979, it was sided with aluminum.

In its original location, the Austin house faced Jefferson Street. Its front porch was supported
by four fluted columns. The deck above was framed by a balustrade, which also stretched around the
entire roofline above the cornice. A balustraded “widow’s walk” topped the hipped roof. A second
entrance on Wisconsin Street had a different porch with a delicate design consisting of simple scroll-
cut ornament. Over the years, the house has been altered. The porch, balustrades and trim have all been
removed or hidden beneath aluminum siding. A bay window has been added on the ground floor, and a
side entrance has been covered (Zimmermann 1981:1,7).

John Czaja Meat Market, 1843-1845 N. Pulaski Street:

John Czaja and his wife Katarzyna came to Milwaukee in 1891, and settled on Pulaski Street
The 1905 City Directory listed John Czaja as a meat cutter at 1851 N. Pulaski Street. In 1917, he
moved his meat market and his family to a new building at 1843-1845 N. Pulaski Street. Three of the
thirteen Czaja children -- John, Frank and Viola — worked in the family business after they were
grown. Viola and her husband John Tutkowski ran the business from 1924 until John’s death in 1954.
Viola and her son John continued to operate Tutkowski’s meat market until 1966, when Viola retired
and the store closed (Jung n.d.).

The red brick building is polygonal in shape, the front conforming to the oblique angle of
Pulaski Street. Built into a hillside behind, the building is three stories tall in front. The ground floor is
of brick construction and the upper two stories are brick veneer. Although the brick fagade appears
uniform, the building form suggests a raised basement structure. A narrow pent-roof separates the
ground floor from ‘the upper two stories, on the street fagades. The two entrance doors and storefront
are at street level, while the ground floor windows on the sides are small, basement-type windows.
These and the second story windows above are topped with segmental arches. The open joints formed
by diagonally intersecting bricks at the oblique corners on either side of the building are echoed under
the storefront windows, in two courses of bricks laid with their corners protruding. A projecting
polygonal bay in the third story corner has been covered with artificial brick siding.
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John Jankowski Grocery Store, 1816-1822 N. Humboldt Ave.:

The John Jankowski grocery was built in 1894. Designed by the Czech-born Milwaukee
architect, A.V. Wiskocil, the Dutch Colonial Revival style building was constructed by mason Frank
Niezorawski and the carpentry firm of Kruzinski & Miller, at a cost of $4500 (Building Permits, 1816-
1822 N. Humboldt Ave.). The two and a half story high cream brick-veneer building consists of a
double store with flats above. The roof has two gambrel gables in front, with projecting bays
underneath and dormers between. The motif is repeated on the south fagade, with a single gambrel
gable and multiple attic dormers.

In front of the building, three sets of concrete stairs lead to the three main entrances — one for
each store, and another for a staircase to the upper flats. Also in front, at each end of the building, is a
bulkhead cellar entrance. On the south wall of the building, a sign reading “Michalak’s Food Mkt/
Since 1844/ fine quality” in black letters has been partially painted over.

The building functioned as a grocery for many years. John Jankowski owned and lived in the
building until 1911. He was succeeded by Anton Drewek (probably a son-in-law), who was initially
listed in the city directories as a bricklayer, and subsequently operated the grocery until about 1940.
V. Michalak took over the store from Drewek.

Michael Plazinsky House, 1735 N. Franklin Place:

This two-story, brick, Italianate-style double house appeared early in the East Village
neighborhood. Tax rolls suggest that it may have been built or moved there about 1874, by Michael
Plazinsky. It has a hip roof with a gabled pediment over the center entrance. The double door and the
symmetrically placed windows are surmounted by segmental arched brick hood moldings. A brick
water table sets off the first floor from the basement level. The brick has been painted, but aside from
the addition of a below-ground doorway to basement living quarters, the building is in nearly original
condition.

Frank Niezorawski House, 1722-1724 N. Franklin Place:

This large red brick duplex was built about 1894 for Frank Niezorawski, a prominent mason
contractor in the city of Milwaukee. Although no original building permit exists, it is reasonable to
assume, because of Niezorawski’s profession, that he built the house himself. The two and a half story,
front gabled structure has a porch across the front of the ground floor, with a door at each end. The
porch is supported by brick pillars, surmounted by plain limestone capitals with limestone crosses
underneath. Another porch extends across the front of the second story. Where the south corner of the
second story is cut back, with a door, the porch roof is supported on wooden columns. The large front
gable is clad with patterned shingles and pierced by a tall, Palladian style window. The motif is echoed
on the south side of the house, with an identical gable perpendicular to the main roofline. The house
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has two large corbelled brick chimnéys, with one surviving clay chimney pot. Except for some 1913
repairs to the front porch, the exterior of the house is in largely original condition.

Stan Tovar House, 1213 E. Kane Place:

This unusually well-preserved late Victorian “Polish flat” was built in 1900. The building
permit lists Stan Toyar as both owner and carpenter. Unlike some “Polish flats,” which were originally
built as cottages and later raised, this example appears to have been built originally on a high brick
basement with two over two light windows. The basement is semi-subterranean, and outside stairs lead
to the front entry porch, which has turned posts supporting the roof. The upper, cottage portion of the
building has clapboard siding. Gable end returns set off the decorative gable shingles, in a variation of
a scalloped pattern. The windows have two over two sashes and milled decorative Victorian-style
frames. The second entry door is on the west side of the building, rather in the front.

Open Spaces

The East Village Historic District encompasses, within its boundaries, two areas of open space:
Pulaski Playground and Caesar’s Park.

Pulaski Playground (C)

The Pulaski Playground occupies an irregular area, extending from Pulaski Street east to
Arlington Place and bordered on the north by houses which face East Kane Place and on the south by
residences. A resolution to create the playground was introduced to the Common Council in 1924 by
Alderman John Suminski, The city acquired the playground site through condemnation. Four lots
fronting on Pulaski Street were acquired in 1926, and in late in 1927, a $7000 field house was
constructed. Between 1930 and 1938, seven additional parcels, fronting on Arlington Place, were
added to the playground. The total cost for all the land acquired was nearly $80,000. More than 20
dwellings, as well as numerous sheds and garages, were removed for the playground. Some of the
buildings were razed, while others were sold and moved to nearby lots (Milwaukee Department of City
Development 1988:355-56). Two of these, now 1836A and 1836B N. Pulaski Street, were moved from
the lot just to the north in 1926. - -

The old Pulaski Playground field house was razed in 1982, and a new $70,000 comfort station
(N/C) was built to replace it. The remainder of the playground has a grassy play area, tennis court and
ball field. In 2001, neighborhood initiative spearheaded a renovation project that resulted in new
landscaping, benches and playground equipment (Milwaukee Department of City Development
1988:356; Gould 2001).
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Caesar’s Park (C)

Caesar’s Park is situated in the far northwest corner of East Village Historic District, along the
Milwaukee River. Its creation was a by-product of the construction of the North Avenue Dam and the
Milwaukee River Flushing Tunnel, which were located on the Milwaukee River near East Boylston
Place. The Rock River Canal Company had constructed a canal and dam at this point in the 1840s, but
by the early 1880s the dam was in disrepair and the bed of the canal was dry, since steam-powered
equipment had made its function obsolete. The city acquired the canal and dam in the 1880s, repaired
the dam, and converted the canal bed into a roadway (Commerce Street). The dam was kept in repair to
prevent the lower Milwaukee River from silting up, to provide for water-related recreational activities
above the dam, to allow for ice harvesting in winter, and to service the numerous industries that lined
the west banks of the Milwaukee River. Just below the dam, the flushing tunnel opening was
constructed to pump water from Lake Michigan into the Milwaukee River to create a flow by which
sewage and other pollutants would be washed downstream and out into Lake Michigan. At the time the
city was negotiating to buy the dam site, the area was being considered for a public bathhouse<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>